
1 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

Monday, November 10, 2025 
6:00 p.m. 

 
MINUTES 

 
The City of Clemson Planning Commission met in open session in the Council Chambers in City 
Hall, 1250 Tiger Boulevard, Clemson, SC. 
 
Members present: Herb Tyler (Chair), Greg Rice (Vice-Chair), Benji Cumbie, Tanya Hyatt, 
Bryan Yoder, John Crolley 
 
Staff present: Nathan Woods, Assistant City Administrator and Planning & Development 
Director; Art Holbrooks, City Planner; Jacob Peabody, Zoning & Codes Administrator, Kelly 
Roach, Recording Secretary. 
 
The meeting was livestreamed and recorded on YouTube. 
 
1. Call to Order:  
 
Mr. Tyler called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m., then introduced the Commission members 
and staff present. He then reviewed the Planning Commission’s purpose and types of meetings 
held, noting the rules governing each.  
 
2. Public Session (6:01) Mr. Tyler opened the Public Session and called for comments related 
to items not on the agenda; Mr. Tyler noted that there had been no written comments received for 
the session.  
 
Mr. Rupert McGinty, 206 N. Clemson Avenue, Clemson. Mr. McGinty stated that the 
Commission needed to know the true number of housing units in Clemson to be effective. 
 
Mr. Brett Hahulski, 106 Folgers Street, Clemson. Mr. Hahulski said that he felt citizens had been 
misled by the City, and that there was no obligation to developers.   
 
Ms. Elaine Masceri, 204 Wren Street, Clemson. Ms. Masceri requested that consideration be 
given to traffic and other impacts on the lives of the citizens before any new development be 
approved..  
 
Mr. Tyler called for any further comments; there were none. Mr. Tyler closed the public session. 
 
3. Adoption of Minutes (18:33) 
  
a. October 14, 2025 – Regular Meeting 
Mr. Tyler called for proposed edits to the draft minutes; there were none. Mr. Tyler called for a 
motion. Mr. Cumbie made a motion to approve the Tuesday, October 14, 2025 minutes as 
presented; Mr. Rice seconded the motion. Mr. Tyler called for discussion; there was none. Mr. 



2 
 

Tyler called for a vote by a show of hands; there was no opposition. The motion was 
unanimously approved by a 6 - 0 vote.  
 
4. Planned Development Concept Presentation Workshop (19:18)  
 
a.  PUD-000506-2025 Proposed Planned Development (1310 Tiger Blvd) 
 
Mr. Tyler called for updates or reports on changes from staff; there were none. 
 
Mr. Tyler then recognized representatives from Toll Brothers Campus Living, and called them to 
come forward to present. Mr. Marielle Aras (Acquisition Team) introduced himself and Mr. Nick 
Berman (Construction and Development Team). Mr. Aras provided an overview of the 
development team and previous developments by Toll Brothers. Mr. Berman then spoke about 
the current proposed project. (See Attachment #1)  
  
Following the presentation, Mr. Tyler called for comments from the commissioners. Among the 
comments were: 
 

• Issues with the proposed density creating traffic problems 
• The need to increase the retail to 60,000 - 80,000 square feet 
• The lack of public benefit from the proposal 
• Clarification that sewer and sidewalk improvements required for any project is not a 

public benefit 
• Location of the bus stop 
• Installation of a pedestrian cross walk 
• Driveway concerns 
• Consideration including non-rental housing that could be sold  
• Public green space 
• Conduct of a traffic study 

 
Mr. Tyler called for additional comments from the commissioners; there were none. The concept 
presentation workshop was closed. 

 
5. Action Items (1:02:41) 

 
a. PUD-000461-2025 Proposed Planned Development (201 Pine Street) 

 
Mr. Tyler noted that because the item was tabled at the last meeting, a procedural vote would be 
needed to bring it back on the floor. Mr. Tyler then called for a motion. Mr. Yoder made a 
motion to remove the item from the table; Mr. Rice seconded the motion. Mr. Tyler called for a 
vote by a show of hands; there was no opposition. The motion was unanimously approved by a 5 
- 0 vote. (Ms. Hyatt abstained from voting due to being absent at the last meeting).  
Mr. Tyler recognized the 53 Group team and called for a member to come forward to present on 
the changes made to their proposal.  



3 
 

Ms. Alison Mills of CRG Real Estate presented (See Attachment #2). She provided a summary 
of the changes and updates made and reiterated the community benefits. Among the changes 
identified were: 

• Step down from seven stories to six stories to five stories along the rear, and pulling back 
from the property line to allow for a new sidewalk and landscape buffer along Hedgerow 
Lane  

• Introducing some liner units along level two of the garage to fully screen it from the 
neighborhood 

• Reducing the density to 685 beds and the parking to 285 resident spaces 
Mr. Tyler then read the public comments that had been sent in. (See attachment #3) 
Mr. Tyler called for comment from the audience. 
Ms. Nancy Spitler, 210 Edgewood Avenue, Clemson. Ms. Spitler stated she was representing 
Ms. Donna McCubbin, who was unable to attend the meeting. She read Ms. McCubbin’s 
statement (Note: statement included with Attachment #3). 
Ms. Gay Eitenmiller, 137 Honey Comb Lane, Central. Ms. Eitenmiller expressed concerns with 
traffic safety and welfare of elderly residents. 
Ms. C.C. Bates, 149 Folger Street, Clemson. Ms. Bates stated that she was against the project 
and said the proposed reduction in the number of beds was not adequate. 
Mr. Daron Bates, 149 Folger Street, Clemson. Mr. Bates asked the commission to turn down 
such developments when they can and to keep Clemson different.  
Mr. Allen Linder, 123 Folger Street, Clemson. Mr. Linder stated that the proposed development 
was contradictory to the Comp Plan and that a development should be of greater benefit to the 
community and not just check boxes to get approval. 
Ms. Larissa Heimlich, 101 Folger Street, Clemson. Ms. Heimlich expressed her concerns with 
trash and noise generated by students.  
Mr. Rupert McGinty, 206 N. Clemson Avenue. Mr. McGinty noted that some views of the 
development were left out of the presentation. 
Ms. Eva Henry, 234 Riggs Drive, Clemson. Ms. Henry voiced concerns with density. 
Ms. Doreen Heimlich, 110 Folger Street, Clemson. Ms. Heimlich said the project was 
incompatible with the neighborhood, and would result in increased traffic and noise. 
Ms. Jill Shelnut, 100 Dogwood Drive, Clemson. Ms. Shelnut stated her worries about the size of 
the property, and said there was no need for more beds when other developments have openings.  
Ms. Shannon Barrett, 109 Strawberry Lane, Clemson. Ms. Barrett challenged the commissioners 
to review the written and verbal opposition, and to drive through the neighborhood. 
Mr. Tyler called for any further comments; there were none. The public comment session was 
closed. 
 



4 
 

Mr. Tyler called for a motion. When no motion was made, Ms. Hyatt said that she believed 
higher density is needed along the main corridors close to campus, and she thanked the 
developers being willing to provide benefits to the City, but she said that she does not believe the 
particular location is the right place for a development with the proposed amount of density. 
Also, she said that while she believed because most students would walk to campus and the 
project would not create any major traffic issues for the neighborhood, the placement off the 
main corridor was problematic. She said she worried that approving the project could result in 
delaying efforts to focus density where she feels it is most appropriate, and concluded by stating 
that she did not support the development. 
Mr. Tyler then called for additional discussion prior to a motion being made.  
Mr. Yoder stated he agreed with Ms. Hyatt in general, but said that his greatest concern was the 
lack of a transition between the property and the existing single-family residential, and said that 
that the changes that the developer was proposing were not enough for the area. He also stated 
that he wants higher density in the area, and that he doesn’t feel traffic is going to be a problem, 
but he has concerns about the overall building mass being so near the property line. He added 
that the tremendous potential benefits being offered made it a difficult decision. 
Mr. Crolley stated that he also agreed that the project would be better situated closer to the 
highway, and noted the closeness to the property line and the lack of a buffer between the 
proposed building and existing residences. He said that he believed the project was not the best 
option for the particular location. He added that if the project was to go forward to Council, there 
was some significant issues in the ordinance that he felt they would need to look at. 
Mr. Cumbie said his feelings echoed those of the other members, and noted that he loved the 
thoughtfulness of the building, and he felt the developer had listened and made a lot of great 
changes. He concluded, however, that while he supported having more walkable locations close 
to campus and recognized the benefits of the proposal offered to the City, he said the density that 
would be put into the neighborhood made the location inacceptable. 
Mr. Rice had no comments. 
Mr. Tyler called for a motion. Mr. Yoder made a motion to send a negative recommendation to 
City Council for application PUD-000461-2025 Proposed Planned Development (201 Pine 
Street); Ms. Hyatt seconded the motion. Mr. Tyler called for any other discussion; there was 
none. Mr. Tyler then called for a roll call vote. 
The results were: 
Mr. Crolley – yes 
Mr. Yoder – yes 
Mr. Rice – no 
Ms. Hyatt – yes 
Mr. Cumbie – yes 
Mr. Tyler – no 
 
The motion was approved by a 4 - 2 vote.  
 
Mr. Tyler called for a 5-minute recess.   
 



5 
 

Mr. Tyler called the meeting back into session. (2:17:10) 
 
b. Resolution 2025-01: A Resolution Recommending the Draft City of Clemson 2045 

Comprehensive Plan for Adoption by City Council  
 
Mr. Tyler recognized Mr. Woods, who provided an overview of the draft document. He then 
went through the timeline of the steps taken and noted the efforts to advertise and promote the 
effort to gain public input. He concluded by emphasizing that the draft plan constituted a 263-
page reduction from the current plan, and asked the Commission to adopt draft 2045 
Comprehensive Plan. 
 
Mr. Tyler called for public comment. 
 
Mr. Brett Hahulski, 106 Folger Street, Clemson. Mr. Hahulski said that while he believed using 
the hang tags on trash roll carts was among the most effective communication efforts, it might 
have been beneficial to have allowed for more time between the notice and the various events 
they were advertising. Ms. Hyatt responded to Mr. Hahulski and recommended he sign up for 
blast emails through the city’s website. 
 
Mr. Tyler called for any additional comments; there were none. The public comment session was 
closed. 
 
Mr. Tyler called for a motion. Mr. Rice made a motion to approve Resolution 2025-01: A 
Resolution Recommending the Draft City of Clemson 2045 Comprehensive Plan for Adoption 
by City Council; Ms. Hyatt seconded the motion. Mr. Tyler called for discussion. 
 
Ms. Hyatt stated she was very happy with the results, and noted that the draft was easy to read 
and effective.  
 
Mr. Tyler then called for a vote by a show of hands; the motion was unanimously approved by a 
6 -0 vote.  
 
6. Advisory Items (2:27:22) – None 
 
7. Discussion Items (2:27:23) - None 
 
8. Staff Reports (2:28:08)  
 
Mr. Holbrooks informed the Commission that a public hearing for the Comprehensive Plan had 
been advertised for December 1, 2025 at 5:30 pm.  
 
Mr. Woods stated that at the next Planning Commission meeting he would like to do a 
presentation on the planned development process. He also alerted the commissioners that there 
were probably three more planned developments that would come before them in the near future, 
and that staff had been working on a ‘by-right’ option. Brief discussion followed. 
 



6 
 

Mr. Tyler called for any other staff reports; there were none. 
 
Mr. Tyler then thanked the commissioners and staff for what they do. 
 
9. Other Items (2:40:26) 
a. Planning Commission Representation at Council Meeting - None 
b. Future Workshops and Other Events - None 
    
10. Adjourn (2:40:27) 
Mr. Tyler called for a motion to adjourn. Mr. Rice made a motion to adjourn; Mr. Yoder 
seconded the motion. Mr. Tyler called for a vote by a show of hands; there was no opposition. 
The motion was unanimously approved by a 6 – 0 vote.   
 
The meeting was adjourned at 8:40 p.m.   
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
Kelly Roach, Recording Secretary 
 
 
These minutes are in draft format and subject to change until approval by the City of Clemson 
Planning Commission.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



7 
 

Attachment #1 
 

 
 
 



8 
 

 
 
 
 
 



9 
 

 
 
 
 



10 
 

 
 

 
 
 



11 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



12 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



13 
 

Attachment #2 
 

 
 
 
 



14 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



15 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



16 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



17 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



18 
 

 
 

 
 
 



19 
 

Attachment #3 
Combined Public Comments 

 



20 
 

 
 
 
 



21 
 

 
 



22 
 

 
 



23 
 

 
 



24 
 

 
 
 



25 
 

 
 
 



26 
 

Attachment #4 

 
 


